THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**  
DEC 12 2016  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2016-000999

---

The City of Columbia..... Respondent,

v.

Johnnie L. Clark and Harriet Clark. .... Appellants.

---

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

---

Henry P. Wall  
Bruner, Powell, Wall  
& Mullins, LLC  
1735 St. Julian Place, Suite 200 (29204)  
P.O. Box 61110  
Columbia, SC 29260  
(803) 252-7693  
Attorneys for Appellants

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the First Amendment defenses, based upon free speech and free exercise, were presented to both the Trial Court and Circuit Court and were therefore properly preserved for Appellate review?
- II. Whether the Trial Court erred in resolving Appellant's First Amendment defenses pursuant to the incorrect legal standard, thus warranting a reversal of the convictions?

## Statement of the Case

This appeal arises from the prosecution and conviction of two ministers of the gospel by the City of Columbia for six municipal code citations<sup>1</sup> alleging violations of the City's noise ordinance. The City issued all of the citations during active, corporate worship services of Rehoboth United Assemblies of the Apostolic Faith stemming from incidents that took place on February 27, 2013, February 28, 2013, March 10, 2013, April 19, 2013, October 4, 2013, November 21, 2013, and April 4, 2014. After a jury trial in which Appellants were not able to raise or argue their constitutional rights to free speech or free exercise of religion as a defense to the allegations, both of the Appellants were convicted on September 11, 2014. Appellant Johnnie L. Clark was imprisoned for fourteen days and fined Two Thousand One Hundred Eighty-five dollars; Appellant Harriet Clark was sentenced to a fine of One Thousand ninety-two dollars and fifty cents or fifteen days imprisonment. The trial court refused to stay either sentence pending further judicial review. Pastor Clark served a two week sentence in Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center, and both Appellants have paid the fines.

Appellants appealed their convictions to Circuit Court on September 12, 2014, and filed an amended appeal on September 17, 2014, raising, among other issues, their First Amendment Rights (Free Speech and Free Exercise) as viable defenses, seeking reversal of the convictions, and requesting a new trial under the proper standard of proof required under South Carolina

---

<sup>1</sup> City of Columbia Municipal Noise Ordinance Sec. 8-67 – Radios, phonographs, musical instruments and other sound-amplifying devices.

....  
(c) *Creating public nuisance.* It shall be unlawful for any person to operate, or cause or permit to be operated, any instrument or sound-producing or sound-amplifying device so loudly as to unreasonably disturb persons in the vicinity thereof or in such a manner as renders the instrument or device a public nuisance.

law. By order dated April 14, 2016 the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, affirmed the convictions and denied the appeal. Appellants filed this timely appeal to the South Carolina Supreme Court.

## Facts

Rehoboth United Assemblies of the Apostolic Faith Church (“Rehoboth” or “The Church”) is a small, predominately African-American, Pentecostal, Christian Church located at 611 Laurel Street in downtown Columbia, South Carolina. Appellant, Pastor Johnnie Clark and his wife, Harriet Clark, have led the worship of this small congregation for more than thirty years without legal incident. A church building has existed at this location for more than sixty years. Until approximately ten years ago, the character of the church’s neighborhood which is located in the “Arsenal Hill” area of Columbia, was modest and poor.

In approximately 2004-2005, a developer acquired the entire city block surrounding the church and applied to the City of Columbia to construct a planned unit development or “PUD”. In 2006, pursuant to the PUD, the City re-zoned the entire block, except the church. Pursuant to the development plans, the commercial developer intended to raze all of the existing residences in order to make room for a more densely populated, urban, upscale residential neighborhood consisting of townhouses and single family homes. Perhaps more significantly, minimum setback lines for structures and buildings were significantly compressed from the former setback lines of approximately 20-30 to as few as eight to ten feet between structures. The City approved the PUD, and the little church continued to worship with no immediate effect on their regular routine.

The historical and biblical tradition of Pentecostal worship is robust, spiritual, enthusiastic, and loud. Members of Rehoboth and Pastor and Mrs. Clark fully embrace the heritage and faith tradition of Pentecostal Christian worship of making a “joyful noise”. Pastor and Mrs. Clark hold sincere religious convictions that preaching, teaching, singing and worship should be easily heard, and they lead bold worship services; consequently, they use loud voices and shouting during their

meetings and services, both with and without amplification. The congregation also encourages the practice of speaking in tongues, dancing and shouting with joy, and expository, lengthy preaching. Prior to the approval of the PUD, the church never had any legal troubles, and was never cited as violating the City's ordinances.

The developer constructed a large model home within ten feet of the church. The unoccupied model home presented no difficulties for anyone; however, the developer eventually sold the model home to Mr. Tim Ellis. Mr. Ellis lived in the home during weekdays, worked long hours, and was rarely at home on weekends. For several years the Church and Mr. Ellis peaceably coexisted as good neighbors without any incident. Eventually however, this circumstance changed when Mr. Ellis's girlfriend and her child moved into the home, and relations between the Ellis household and Rehoboth became strained as a consequence of the Church's typically loud worship style.

Ultimately, the Ellis family called the City of Columbia Police Department on more than fifty occasions during 2013-2014, initiated a civil suit for nuisance and intentional infliction of emotional distress against the Church and the Clarks, and sought criminal prosecution of the Clarks for what they perceived as violations of the City's noise ordinance.

In all, the City of Columbia Police Department issued more than 35 criminal citations, warnings, or incident reports against the Defendants, and many of the citations remain pending and unresolved. This appeal involves seven of the citations. The citations were called for trial in the municipal court and the Defendants demanded a jury trial. Prior to the jury trial, Defendant's trial counsel<sup>2</sup> filed a motion to dismiss the charges, claiming that the ordinance was unconstitutionally

---

<sup>2</sup> Counsel for Appellant in this appeal did not serve as trial counsel before the Municipal Court.

vague based upon the First Amendment. R.pp.2-24. Counsel raised the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, arguing both issues of both free speech and free exercise of religion. In response to the motion, counsel for the City filed a detailed memorandum, similarly addressing both the free speech and free exercise of religion claims. R.pp.25-31. Among other things, the City argued that its noise ordinance was facially neutral, and consequently, the court need not concern itself with the First Amendment questions or issues raised in the motion so long as the ordinance had a rationale relationship to the public interest. R.pp.29-30. In its memorandum, the City cited Christian Methodist Episcopal Church v. Rizzo, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15246, 2010 WL 619061 (D.S.C. 2010), a case which relied upon the United States Supreme Court Decision in Employment Div. Dep't of Human Res. v. Smith, 494 U.S. 872, 110 S.Ct. 1595, 108 L. Ed. 2d 876 (1990), for the proposition that neutral laws of general applicability do not implicate First Amendment issues if they are rationally related to a public purpose. R.p. 29.

The case came to trial before Honorable Steven D. Dennis on September 10-11, 2014. Before the commencement of the trial, Judge Dennis addressed and denied the motions, relying upon the neutral principals doctrine in Smith and holding that the neither the free speech nor freedom of religion provisions of the First Amendment presented a viable defense to the prosecution.<sup>3</sup> R.pp. 128, 170. Judge Dennis concluded that because the noise ordinance was content neutral, the Defendants could not assert the First Amendment as a defense. R.p 169, lines 11-14. Counsel for Defendant expressly requested that the written motions be made a part of the

---

<sup>3</sup> During the trial, counsel for the defendants, the City Prosecutor, and the Trial Judge were apparently unaware that the “neutral principals” analysis of Smith had been statutorily modified overruled in this state pursuant to the South Carolina Religious Freedom Act, S.C. Code Ann.§1-32-10 ed.seq., and the noise ordinance was therefore subject to “strict scrutiny” and that the Defendants had a statutorily protected legal defense under the Act.

record. R.p. 170, lines 15-17. From this interchange, there is no question but that trial counsel raised the First Amendment issues and the trial court actually ruled on them.

As the case proceeded through trial, counsel for the defendants attempted to raise the First Amendment on at least two other occasions: at the jury charge phase (R.p. 197, Lines 15-18) and during closing argument. (R.pp. 188-189) Both times the defense was rebuffed, but the record is nonetheless clear that the First Amendment was in fact raised and addressed by the trial court. (see also R.p. 201, lines 11-16).

Similarly, there is no question that the issue was raised and presented to the Circuit Court both in the Appellant's brief R.pp. 37-110, the proposed order R.pp. 111-119, and the notices of appeal. R.pp. 332-36 After briefing, oral argument, and submission of proposed orders from both parties, all of which raised numerous First Amendment issues, the Circuit Court refused to address the Appellant's First Amendment Arguments, asserting that the issues had not been properly raised and preserved on appeal R.p. 120. This determination left Appellants' convictions unaffected even though they were prosecuted under the incorrect legal standard as a matter of law.

### **Standard of Review**

The standard of review for appeals from municipal court convictions is limited to errors of law. City of Cayce v. Norfolk S. Ry. Co., 391 S.C. 395, 399, 706 S.E.2d 6, 8 (2011), Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts, 393 S.C. 332, 713 S.E.2d 278 (2011). In cases where an appeal does not involve disputed facts, an appellate court "is free to review whether the trial court properly applied the law to those facts." Gov't Employees Ins. Co. v. Draine, 389 S.C. 586, 698 S.E.2d 866, (2010). Furthermore, the "appellate court owes no particular deference to the trial court's legal conclusions." *Id.* 389 S.C. at 591, 698 S.E.2d at 698-99.

## Argument

### **I. The First Amendment Arguments Were Properly Raised, Understood, and Ruled Upon Before the Trial Court and on Appeal Before the Circuit Court. The First Amendment Defenses Are Therefore Properly Preserved for Appellate Review.**

Appellants have consistently raised and pursued their First Amendment defenses both before the trial court, and in their initial appeal to Circuit Court. At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731, (1998). The issue must be sufficiently clear to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the judge. *Id.* at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 733. "It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review. Malloy v. Thompson, 409 S.C. 557, 561 (S.C. 2014).

Before the Municipal Court, Appellants filed and argued their motion to dismiss which was based entirely on the First Amendment. R.pp. 2-24. Appellants subsequently attempted to raise the First Amendment during closing argument, to no avail. R.pp. 188-189. Finally, Appellants requested a jury charge on the First Amendment defense. R.p. 197. Before the Circuit Court, Appellants noted the First Amendment defenses in both the initial notice of appeal and amended notice of appeal, R.pp. 32-36, briefed the issue in their memorandum of authorities, R.pp. 37-110, argued the point during the hearing on oral argument, R.p. 206, and raised the issue yet again in the submission of a draft proposed order for the Circuit Court. R.p. 111. The suggestion that the First Amendment issues were raised for the first time on appeal is utterly unsupported by the record.

The trial court admitted its understanding of the importance of the First Amendment throughout the trial, R.p. 144, lines 6-8, P.p. 201 lines 12-16. The trial judge's repeated recognition of the importance of the fundamental rights protected by the First Amendment establish that the issue was "reasonably understood by the judge," and thus is reviewable by the appellate court. Malloy, 409 S.C. at 561, 762 S.E.2d at 692. Furthermore, the Trial Judge ruled on the issue by applying a neutral principles approach with minimal judicial scrutiny, albeit an incorrect approach under South Carolina law. R.p. 161, lines 1-5. R.p. 168, lines 14-18, R.pp. 169 – 171, lines 11-25.

In raising a constitutional argument, a party may frame or present an issue or argument according to its own terms. This should not be confused with the question of whether or not an issue is raised for purposes of issue preservation. For example, a Petitioner to the Supreme Court can "formulate[ ] any argument [it] like[s] in support of [a] claim" that it properly raises in the Supreme Court. Yee v. City of Escondido, 503 U.S. 519, 112 S.Ct. 1522, 118 L.Ed.153 (1992); *accord* Citizens United v. FEC, 558 U.S. 310, 130 S.Ct. 876, 175 L.Ed.2d 753 (2010). Thus, while it is true that Appellant included the South Carolina Religious Freedom Act argument to support its previously made the First Amendment argument on appeal when it became apparent that both parties and the trial court had overlooked its application below, the First Amendment claims were obviously previously raised, presented, and ruled upon, though not precisely in the manner at trial as they were on appeal.

Further, courts in South Carolina have historically allowed the appeal of general First Amendment and constitutional issues where the principle, rather than specific statutes were raised in the trial court as a defense to ordinance violations. *See* City of Beaufort v. Baker, 315 S.C. 146, 432 S.E.2d 470 (1993); City Of Chester v. Addison, 277 S.C. 179, 284 S.E.2d 579 (1981). While the Appellants were precluded by the trial judge from raising their constitutional arguments, the

issue was effectively raised and ruled on. The court ruled on the issue of the proper standard of review to be applied to the case when the court read the City of Columbia Noise Ordinance § 8-67 several times, stating that this ordinance was the standard the jury was to apply to the facts of the case. R.p. 195, see also R.p. 36. The municipal court's final holding that the Appellants violated the ordinance was based on an obvious error of law resulting from the court's failure to apply the proper standard of review under either legal standard applicable to this case and these facts: the *Smith* hybrid situation or the standard of South Carolina Religious Freedom Act.

Furthermore, it is worth noting that this court may, in its discretion, consider this appeal even if it were to determine that Appellants failed to raise the First Amendment issue below. In Wolper v. City of Charleston, 287 S.C. 209, 336 S.E. 2d 871 (1985), this Court addressed a constitutional law question notwithstanding technical errors in issue preservation because the issue presented was "obviously addressed" by the parties below and was "ruled upon". The Court noted that the matter raised was of significance for the future, and Appellant reminds this court that there are remaining pending charges against Appellants and the First Amendment question remains looming in this case. While Appellant remains confident that the First Amendment was properly raised and preserved for appeal from a close examination of the record, if the record is nonetheless lacking, Appellant would urge this Court to address the First Amendment claims based upon its discretion and the decision in Wolper.

## **II. The Trial Court Erred in Resolving Appellant's First Amendment Challenges Under the Incorrect Legal Standard.**

Appellants have a constitutional, common law, and statutorily protected right to worship God without unreasonable interference from the City, and the City's noise ordinance is subject to strict judicial review. In order to be lawful under South Carolina and Federal Constitutional

Law, the noise ordinance must: 1) serve a compelling state interest, and 2) impose the least restrictive means of accomplishing that compelling interest. Moreover, the burden of establishing these two elements is upon the City. However, the trial court never undertook this analysis, finding instead that because the noise ordinance was facially neutral, the Appellant's First Amendment rights were of no moment, and the ordinance was presumptively valid as being rationally related to the public interest.

Appellants contend, at the very least, that they should have been able to raise and assert their constitutional rights and arguments as a defense to the prosecution, and that the burden was upon the City to establish that the ordinance in issue served a compelling state interest, and, as drafted, was narrowly tailored to achieve its purpose. Appellants do not argue these rights are absolute, but that they at least give rise to a defense which they should have been able to raise, argue, and charge to the jury. Even though the City's noise ordinance does not facially discriminate against religion and appears neutral on its face, Appellants maintain the manner in which the ordinance has been enforced impairs their free exercise and free speech, and the trial court erred in its failure to recognize these fundamental protections provided by the South Carolina Religious Freedom Act ("SCRFA"), and both the U.S. and South Carolina Constitutions.

The trial court erroneously concluded that because the City of Columbia noise ordinance was "content neutral", the Appellants could neither raise nor argue religious freedom as a defense to the enforcement of the ordinance, even though the City issued all of the citations during the Appellant's worship services or congregational meetings. From the inception of the case during pretrial motions and discussion, the trial court determined that the First Amendment defenses and

arguments could not be raised as a defense. Having made this determination, the court thereafter refused to allow the Appellants to raise the issue of religious freedom or constitutional vagueness of the statute before the jury or the court. The court viewed the case as merely about loud noise, devoid of regulating any speech content because it determined the noise ordinance was “content neutral” and therefore absolutely immune from religious freedom challenge or any challenge whatsoever on the basis of constitutional vagueness and free speech. R.pp. 168-169, 187, 201. The clearest example on the record is found in the closing argument. When the religious freedom and free speech argument was raised by counsel during closing argument, the court characterized the argument as legally impermissible “jury nullification”. The Court then advised the jury to disregard the argument and do their duty, in effect directing a verdict as to the constitutional challenges. R.pp. 188-189. The court refused to charge the jury on the constitutional challenge, despite the request, nor would the court consider the question of constitutional vagueness, Free Speech, and Free Exercise whether based upon strict scrutiny, or otherwise. R.pp. 197-201.<sup>4</sup>

The trial judge obviously relied upon Employment Division v. Smith, 494 U.S. 872. 110 S.Ct. 1595, 108 L.Ed.2d 876 (1990), given its repeated references in the record to the “content neutral” nature of the ordinance. In Smith, the United States Supreme Court ruled it would no longer apply heightened scrutiny to the government’s refusal to grant exemptions to generally applicable laws that unintentionally and tangentially burdened religious beliefs or practices. In Smith, the Court addressed the question of whether or not the ingestion of peyote, a religious practice of certain Native Americans, would, in and of itself, render an otherwise content-neutral law unenforceable and void on the grounds of religious freedom, standing alone. The Court was

---

<sup>4</sup> I’m going to tell you my interpretation, Mr. Briggs. First of all, I respect the First Amendment; I respect the Right to Speech and Religion. But if I’m in my own home with my doors and windows shut and there’s any level of volume that interferes with my normal life, it is too much. I have a right to have privacy and peace in my own home. (emphasis added).

obviously concerned with individuals raising religious objections as a trump card in order to avoid otherwise general lawful requirements such as paying taxes or registering for the selective service. The Court determined that Free Exercise, standing alone, cannot be stretched so far so as to implicate strict scrutiny each and every time there is a conceivable effect on religious freedom.

Smith, however, is not the correct legal standard in this state, and therein lies an obvious and fatal error of law to the trial court's reasoning. Although the prosecutor, defense counsel and trial judge were apparently unaware of the appropriate legal standard during the trial, the fact remains that a man has been imprisoned under an incorrect legal standard. The correct legal standard is not Smith, but is rather, Wisconsin v. Yoder, 406 U.S. 205 92 S.Ct. 1526, 32 L.Ed.2d 15 (1972) because the South Carolina Religious Freedom Act ("SCRFA"), S.C. Code Ann., Section 1-32-10 et. seq., statutorily overruled Smith and re-established the Yoder legal standard in cases of this kind:

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