THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-000999

RECEIVED

DEC -1 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Johnnie L. Clark and Harriet Clark..... Appellants,

v.

The City of Columbia Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Jessica R. Mangum
Office of the City Attorney
Post Office Box 667
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 737-4242

Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPELLANTS FAILED TO PROPERLY RAISE AND PRESERVE FIRST AMENDMENT CLAIMS AND DEFENSES.

The Appellants assert an overly-broad series of issues that far exceed the scope of the trial court's rulings as well as fail to address the actual issue ruled upon by the court.¹ The Appellants argue that they repeatedly raised and preserved First Amendment defenses to both the trial court as well as the circuit court.² Moreover, Appellants argue that they raised and preserved objections to jury charges which the trial court denied. However, the record is clear that the Appellants failed to properly preserve objections and/or requests to charge on a First Amendment instruction; and the circuit court properly ruled that the issue was not preserved for appeal.

“There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” *Johnson v. Sam English Grading, Inc.*, 412 S.C. 433, 457, 772 S.E.2d 544, 557 (Ct. App. 2015). Moreover, “an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” *Id.* In addition, “it is the responsibility of counsel to preserve issues for appellate review.” *State v. Passmore*, 363 S.C. 568, 584, 611 S.E.2d 273, 282 (Ct. App. 2005). “The issue preservation requirement applies to assertions of constitutional violations as well.” *Id.* Lastly, the rules of issue preservation “must also be applied consistently and not selectively” such that an issue that is not preserved should

¹ The actual issue was the vagueness of the noise ordinance under the free speech provision of the First Amendment, not the free exercise of religion.

² See footnote one (1).

not be considered, “regardless ... of the life-blood litigant or criminal defendant” that comes before the court. *Atlantic Coast Builders and Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282 (2012).

A. THE APPELLANTS FAILED TO RAISE AND PRESERVE POTENTIAL DEFENSES UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA RELIGIOUS FREEDOM ACT.

In the case at bar, Appellants explicitly concede that they failed to assert any claim or defense pursuant to the South Carolina Religious Freedom Act (hereinafter “the Act” or “SCRFA”). S.C. Code Ann. § 1-32-10 *et. seq.* See footnote 3, Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 5. In addition, a review of the record on appeal plainly shows that the entire sum of the record is devoid of any reference or assertion related to the Religious Freedom Act; and the Appellants now strive to simply bootstrap the issue with generalized and otherwise unpreserved arguments under the First Amendment. However, the mere fact that a constitutional issue is involved does not permit the Supreme Court to address issues not properly before it. *McLeod v Starnes*, 396 S.C. 647, 657, 723 S.E.2d 198 (2012).

It is a generally accepted principle that a party cannot argue a specific matter with the trial court and then argue an entirely separate matter on appeal. See *State v. Tucker*, 319 S.C. 425, 462 S.E.2d 263 (1995) (a party cannot argue one ground below and then argue another ground on appeal). Moreover, Appellants had an ongoing opportunity to raise the possibility of an affirmative defense under the SCRFA and failed to do so. See also, *e.g.*, *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 564, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006) (“It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved.”). Because Appellants failed to timely raise an issue related to the SCRFA, failed to pursue a ruling, and otherwise

failed to make or otherwise renew contemporaneous objections, the basic principles of issue preservation operate as a bar to further review in this matter. *Johnson*, 412 S.C. at 457, 772 S.E.2d at 557 (Ct. App. 2015).

**B. THE APPELLANTS FAILED TO RAISE AND PRESERVE
TIMELY OBJECTIONS TO JURY INSTRUCTIONS.**

The singular argument that could be potentially construed as an objection on the record is the Appellants' *suggestion* that the trial court instruct the jury on issues of constitutional law. Specifically, the record shows the following:

THE COURT: ALL RIGHT. ANY OBJECTIONS OR ADDITIONAL CHARGES?

MS. MANGUM: NOT FROM THE CITY, YOUR HONOR.

THE COURT: MR. BRIGGS, ARE YOU OK WITH MY CHARGE?

MR. BRIGGS: NO, NO OBJECTION AND NO COMPLAINT, YOUR HONOR. BUT I FEEL LIKE THEY NEED SOME CONSTITUTIONAL LAW AND I WOULD SUGGEST A SUMMARY OF THE EDWARDS CASE, YOUR HONOR. THAT'S ALL I'VE GOT TO SAY.

THE COURT: WELL, THAT CASE IS CERTAINLY RELEVANT TO YOUR MOTION, IT WAS CERTAINLY RELEVANT TO MY PREVIOUS DECISIONS ON THOSE MOTIONS BUT IT'S NOT FOR THE JURY. THAT WOULD BE FOR ME. HAND THEM THESE AND MAKE SURE THEY GET THE EXHIBITS OVER HERE, TOO, PLEASE.

See R. p. 197, lines 11-23. Pursuant to Rule 20, SCRCrimP, "the parties shall be given the opportunity to object to the giving or failure to give an instruction" and the failure to object operates as "a waiver of objection." South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure: Rule 20, SCRCrimP. However, when asked whether any parties had objections to the jury charges, the Appellants clearly responded in the negative: "No, no objection and no complaint, Your Honor." *See R. p. 197, lines 15-16.* In addition, Appellants simply

commented that “I feel like they need some constitutional law and I would suggest a summary of the *Edwards* case, Your Honor.” *See* R. p. 197, lines 16-17.

Clearly, Appellants failed to raise any contemporaneous objections to the trial court’s jury instructions, and their failure to do so constitutes a waiver of the issue on appeal. *See State v. Rios*, 388 S.C. 335, 342, 696 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2010) (“By failing to contemporaneously object to the jury charges, [the party] has waived his right to allege error on appeal.”). Indeed, as the circuit court previously explained, “there was no objection to the trial court’s charge. Any subsequent statements or suggestions made by the Clarks did not rise to the level of a proper objection as required by Rule 20.” (Order of April 14, 2016, p. 3). Because a specific and timely objection was not made, the circuit court correctly ruled that the issue was not preserved for appellate review.

II. EVEN IF THE APPELLANTS HAD RAISED A CLAIM OF A SUBSTANTIAL BURDEN UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA RELIGIOUS FREEDOM ACT, APPELLANTS NEVERTHELESS FAILED TO ALLEGE AND PRESERVE FACTS IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT SUCH A FINDING.

The purpose of the City of Columbia noise ordinance is to prohibit and otherwise make it “unlawful for any person to operate, or cause or permit to be operated, any instrument or sound-producing or sound-amplifying device so loudly as to unreasonably disturb persons in the vicinity thereof or in such a manner as renders the instrument or device a public nuisance.” *Columbia, South Carolina Municipal Code* § 8-67(c).

Likewise, the purpose of the South Carolina Religious Freedom Act is to

- (1) restore the compelling interest test as set forth in *Wisconsin v. Yoder*, 406 U.S. 205 (1972), and *Sherbert v. Verner*, 374 U.S. 398 (1963), and to guarantee that a test of a compelling state interest will be imposed on all state and

local laws and ordinances in all cases in which the free exercise of religion is substantially burdened; and (2) provide a claim or defense to persons whose exercise of religion is substantially burdened by the State.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-32-30 (Supp. 1999).

In addition, the SCRFA provides that

The state may not substantially burden a person's exercise of religion, even if the burden results from a rule of general applicability, unless the State demonstrates that application of the burden to the person is: (1) in furtherance of a compelling state interest; and (2) the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling state interest.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-32-40 (Supp. 1999). Finally, “[i]f a person’s exercise of religion has been burdened in violation of his chapter, the person may assert the violation as a claim or defense in a judicial proceeding.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-32-50 (Supp. 1999).

Thus, to invoke the SCRFA as an affirmative claim or defense in a judicial proceeding, the Appellants would have had to first show that the ordinance placed a substantial burden on their exercise of a sincere religious belief. *See, e.g., Lovelace v. Lee*, 472 F.3d 174, 187 (4th Cir. 2006) (explaining that “a ‘substantial burden’ on religious exercise occurs when a state or local government, through act or omission, ‘puts substantial pressure on an adherent to modify his behavior and to violate his beliefs’”); *Sherbert v. Verner*, 374 U.S. 398, 404 (1963) (a substantial burden is one that forces a citizen to “choose between following the precepts of her religion and forfeiting benefits, on the one hand, and abandoning one of the precepts of her religion ... on the other hand”); *Civil Liberties for Urban Believers v. City of Chicago*, 342 F.3d 752, 761 (7th Cir. 2003) (a substantial burden is one that bears responsibility for causing religious exercise to be rendered impracticable). Assuming that the Appellants had successfully alleged that the ordinance created a substantial burden, the City would have been

subsequently required to justify the ordinance's restrictions by asserting a compelling government interest, e.g., the exercise of its police powers to protect the health, safety, and welfare of its citizens. Additionally, the City would then be required to show that it utilized the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling government interest. *Bethel World Outreach Ministries v. Montgomery County Council*, 706 F.3d 548, 557 (4th Cir. 2013).

However, a careful review of the record shows that the Appellants failed to allege sufficient grounds to support the contention that the ordinance imposed a substantial burden on their exercise of religion. Instead, the Appellants simply alleged, rather unsuccessfully, that the ordinance infringed upon their fundamental rights to free speech because it was impermissibly vague. *See* R. p. 165 - 170. Furthermore, the record shows that to support their arguments, the Appellants did little more than generally cite to a random assortment of cases that purportedly distinguish ordinances of varying purposes (and which otherwise failed to support Appellant's position that the City's ordinance was unconstitutionally vague). *See, e.g.*, R. p. 167, lines 8-11 (addressing the Appellants, the Hon. Steven Dennis noted that "there's no doubt [that] *City of Houston* is a preeminent case in the vagueness field [but] it doesn't deal with a noise ordinance."). Consequently, both the trial court as well as the circuit court properly ruled in favor of the City, finding that the ordinance is not unconstitutionally vague; that the Appellant's had proper notice of prohibited conduct; and that the Appellant's First Amendment right to free speech did not otherwise trump the surrounding citizens' "rights to peace and general well-being." R. p. 125. More importantly, the Appellants failed to allege and preserve any facts or

preserve any facts or argument to show that the ordinance imposed a substantial burden on their free exercise of religion.

A. BECAUSE THE APPELLANTS FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE ORDINANCE IMPOSED A SUBSTANTIAL BURDEN, INTERMEDIATE SCRUTINY IS THE PROPER STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The First Amendment of the United States Constitution provides that "Congress shall make no law ... prohibiting the free exercise [of religion]." U.S. Const. Amend. 1; SC Const Art I § 21. The federal free exercise clause was applied to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment in *Meyer v. Nebraska*, 262 U.S. 390 (1923) (inferential incorporation) and *Cantwell v. Connecticut*, 310 U.S. 296 (1940) (explicit incorporation). Although couched in absolute terms, this constitutional guarantee has never been interpreted as creating absolute protection for every religiously motivated act. *South Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Father*, 294 S. C. 518, 366 S. E. 2d 40 (Ct. App. 1988). Rather, the extent of religious freedom depends on whether the challenged governmental interference affects a religious belief or religious conduct. *See Cantwell*, 310 U. S. at 303-04.

Likewise, the freedoms afforded under the First Amendment also permits the government to impose certain regulations on speech. *Ross v. Early*, 746 F.3d 546 (4th Cir. 2014). Specifically, courts will apply "the time, place, and manner doctrine to determine whether restrictions placed on protected speech in public fora violate the First Amendment." *Id.* at 552. Accordingly, content-neutral restrictions that regulate the time, place, and manner of speech must satisfy an intermediate level of scrutiny. *Id.*

To satisfy the burden of intermediate scrutiny, a "time, place, and manner" restriction on speech must be justified without reference to the content of the regulated

speech, be “narrowly tailored to serve a significant government interest,” and “leave open ample alternative channels for communication of information.” *McCullen v. Coakley*, 134 S.Ct. 2518 (2014). Moreover, for a content-neutral regulation to be narrowly tailored, “it must not burden substantially more speech than is necessary to further the government’s legitimate interests.” *Ward v. Rock Against Racism*, 491 U.S. 781, 799 (1989).

Additionally, the regulation is not required to be the “least restrictive or least intrusive means of serving the government’s interests.” *Id.* at 798. Instead, the requirement of narrow tailoring is satisfied “so long as the ... regulation promotes a substantial government interest that would be achieved less effectively absent the regulation.” *Id.* at 799. However, “so long as the means chosen are not substantially broader than necessary to achieve the government’s interest ... the regulation will not be invalid simply because a court concludes that the government’s interest could be adequately served by some less-speech-restrictive alternative.” *Id.* at 801.

The case at bar clearly highlights the well-established principle that the government has a “substantial interest in protecting its citizens from unwelcome noise.” *Id.* at 796. More importantly, “this interest is at its height when protecting the ‘well-being, tranquility, and privacy of the home.’” *Frisby v. Schultz*, 487 U.S. 474 (1988) (internal citations omitted). In addition, “the government may act to protect even such public forums as city streets and parks from excessive noise.” *Ward*, 491 u.S. at 796. Like the case in *Ward*, the ordinance in this case is designed to regulate “loud and

unseemly noise” and further reflects the Respondent’s interests in protecting the citizenry’s rights to privacy, peace, and general well-being.

Lastly, the “time, place, and manner” restrictions must leave open ample alternative channels of communication. Just like the cases in *Ward v. Rock Against Racism*, 491 U.S. 781 (1989) and *City of Beaufort v. Baker*, 315 S.C. 146 (1993), this requirement is easily satisfied because the City’s ordinance does not prohibit any specific means of expression at any given time or place. *Ward v. Rock Against Racism*, 491 U.S. 781, 802 (1989); *City of Beaufort v. Baker*, 315 S.C. 146, 151 (1993).

B. EVEN IF THE APPELLANTS HAD SUCCESSFULLY SHOWN A SUBSTANTIAL BURDEN, THE RECORD REFLECTS SUFFICIENT FACTS TO PROVE THE ORDINANCE SATISFIES STRICT SCRUTINY.